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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

COLLEEN BERTHELOT, ET AL, CIVIL ACTION
VERSUS NO. 05-4182
BOH BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION CO., SECTION "K"(2)
L.L.C,ETAL. CONS. KATRINA CANAL

PERTAINS TO: O'Dwyer 05-4181

ORDER AND REASONS

Before the Court are the following motions that were filed in O'Dwyer, et al. v. The United
States of America, et al., C.A. 05-4181:

Doc. 104 Motion to Dismiss for Want of Standing or, Alternatively Pursuant to FRCP
12(b)(1), FRCP 12(b)(6) and FRCP 11(b)(2) with Incorporated Memorandum
in Support Thereof filed by the City of New Orleans, the Honorable C. Ray
Nagin, Mayor, and Former Superintendent of Police Edwin Compass, I11*

Doc. 105 Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) filed by Kimberly
Williamson Butler, in her individual capacity.

Doc. 110 Amended Motion to Dismiss Pursuantto F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) filed by Kimberly
Williamson Butler, in her individual and official capacity

Doc. 106 Motion to Dismiss Defendant Governor Kathleen Blanco

Doc. 107 Motion to Dismiss Defendant State of Louisiana

Doc. 108 United States' Motion to Dismiss

Doc. 109 Motion to Dismiss on Behalf of Eddie Jordan, Individually and in his Elected

Capacity as the District Attorney for the Parish of Orleans, State of
Louisiana.

The City of New Orleans also filed a subsequent Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim (Doc. 200)
with respect to the following cases: C.A. No. 05-6327, 05-6073, 05-5237, and 05-6314. The Court will address this
other motion in a subsequent order; this ruling is intended as an adjudication as to the issues contained in the
O'Dwyer matter.
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The Court has reviewed the pleadings, memoranda and the relevant law, and is prepared to address

each motion herein seriatim.

BACKGROUND

The instant suit was filed on September 19, 2006, in the immediate aftermath of Hurricane
Katrina. While it was initially filed "in proper person" by counsel?, since its filing, counsel has
amended the complaint eleven times, adding a multitude of individuals and alleging causes of action
that include, inter alia, allegations of defalcations with respect to the adequacy and construction of
the canals and flood walls that failed in the wake of Hurricane Katrina, the adequacy of the
evacuation measures taken prior to Hurricane Katrina, and the adequacy and propriety of the
response to the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina. Inthis one suit, plaintiffs have named as defendants
the United States of America (including the Army Corps of Engineers ("the Corps™) and the Federal
Emergency Management Agency ("FEMA"), Kathleen Blanco, both individually and in her official
capacity as Governor of the State of Louisiana, the State of Louisiana, the City of New Orleans, Ray
Nagin both individually and in his official capacity, Eddie Compass, both individually and in his
official capacity as Chief of Police, Eddie Jordan, both individually and in his official capacity as
District Attorney for the City of New Orleans, Jim Huey, individually and in his official capacity
as President of the Orleans Parish, Orleans Parish Sewerage and Water Board, Kimberly Williamson
Butler, individually and in her official capacity as Clerk of Court for the Orleans Parish Criminal

District Court, Eustis Engineering Company, Inc., Modjeski and Master, Inc., the Board of

%Indeed, the initial complaint consists of a 56 page hand-written document which is practically illegible by
virtue of its meanderings and notations which literally fill the pages without margins with writings that are
perpendicular to the lines of the paper on which the pleading is written.
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Commissioners of the Orleans Levee District.®> Pretermitting the propriety of the joinder of this
number of plaintiffs, defendants and causes of actions, the Court will address the above-listed

motions to dismiss.

THE COMPLAINT AND AMENDING COMPLAINTS

The Class Action Complaint begins with a listing of individual plaintiffs who are not
specifically identified by address or any specific information, and provides for a number of
"groupings” of which this amorphous listing of individuals claims to be representative. As for the
jurisdictional basis, in Paragraph 1V, plaintiffs initially allege, "This Court is the exclusive court of
jurisdiction over the United States of America. This court has ancillary or pendant jurisdiction over
the remaining defendants."* (Doc. 1, Complaint, p. 17). The Complaint then proceeds with a
general diatribe concerning the alleged defalcations of the defendants in this matter. (Doc. 1,
Complaint, pp. 18-32). Plaintiffs continue by alleging a number of “legal theories” against public
officials including incompetence, violation of duty and statute, negligence, gross negligence,
malfeasance, misfeasance, non-feasance, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Plaintiffs
in later amendments also contend that the "torts errors and omissions committed by [these]
defendants satisfy the requirements for excepting from immunity from liability because of

malicious, intentional, willful, outrageous, reckless or flagrant misconduct. La. Rev. Stat.

3By order of this Court, the claims against Aaron Broussard, individually and in his official capacity as
President for the Parish of Jefferson and Jefferson Parish were severed from this suit and assigned a separate case
number, that is Abel v. Broussard, C.A. No. 06-1640. A Motion to Dismiss these parties (Doc. 13) had been filed
prior to the severance; however, another Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 15)was filed in Abel and granted (Doc. 20). Thus,
the Motion to Dismiss in O’Dwyer (Doc. 13) is MOOT.

4Supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 is proper term to use; the Court will discuss this
basis for jurisdiction at the conclusion of this opinion.
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9:2798.1(C)(2)." Inaddition, plaintiffs contend that the defendants violated a criminal statute, La.
Rev. Stat. 14:134 concerning malfeasance in office.’

The initial complaint contains "counts” which plaintiffs maintain contain the gravamen of
the specific actions which are the basis for their complaint. In relevant part, these "counts™ are as
follows:®

Count 1 Plaintiffs reaver (sic) and reiterate all of their allegations as aforesaid, and in
addition aver that certain of the defendants negligently, intentionally, and with
malfeasance, misfeasance and non-feasance, failed to order the timely evacuation
of critical care patients in hospitals, nursing homes, etc. . . .

Count 2 that certain defendant intentionally, negligently [both gross and simple in nature],
and with malfeasance, misfeasance and non-feasance failed in their duty to ensure
competent design, construction, maintenance and inspection of the levee systems
for the Industrial Canal, the London Avenue Canal and the Seventeenth Street
Canal

Count3 that certain defendants intentionally, negligently and with malfeasance, misfeasance,
and non-feasance failed to timely stop the flooding

*These allegations were added in the Eleventh Supplemental Amending Complaint. (Doc. 78). Neither can
plaintiffs bring a criminal action, nor can a private right of action be derived therefrom. Evans v. Dept. of Housing
and Urban Dev. 2004 WL 179193, *5 (E.D.La. Jan. 28, 2004). Thus, this jurisdictional allegation is devoid of merit
and will not be addressed again.

®The First Supplemental and Amending Complaint contains additional plaintiffs and added the Sewerage
and Water Board. (Doc. 3). The Second Supplemental and Amending Complaint added FEMA as defendant and
another group of plaintiffs. (Doc. 5). The Third Supplemental and Amending Complaint added the Jefferson Parish
allegations which as previously noted were severed and dismissed. (Doc. 7) The Fourth Supplemental and Amending
Complaint added plaintiffs, a Jefferson Parish classification, an additional jurisdictional basis discussed infra, and
more vituperative allegations of misfeasance on the part of Mayor Nagin. (Doc. 12). The Fifth Supplemental and
Amending Complaint added additional plaintiffs and the classification of those injured by the Mississippi Gulf River
Outlet ("MRGQO™). (Doc. 16). The Sixth Supplemental and Amending Complaint broadens the allegations to include
plaintiffs in New Orleans East and classification for those harmed by the Industrial Canal in conjunction with
MRGO. Williamson and the Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development were added by this
document. (Doc. 20). The Seventh Supplemental and Amending Complaint added more plaintiffs and Eustis
Engineering Company, Inc. and Modjeski and Masters, Inc. as defendants. (Doc. 23). The Eight Supplemental and
Amending Complaint (Doc. 50), the Ninth Supplemental and Amending Complaint (Doc.123) and the Tenth
Supplemental and Amending Complaint (Doc. 124) all simply add new individually named plaintiffs. The Eleventh
Supplemental and Amending Complaint added plaintiffs, an insurance company in lieu of "ABC Insurance
Company" for the New Orleans Levee Board, and more bases for jurisdiction which will be discussed infra, as well
as various other bases for "compensation” from state defendants. (Doc. 128).
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Count4

Count5

Count6

Count?7

Count8

Count 9

that certain defendants intentionally, negligently and with malfeasance, misfeasance,
and non-feasance failed to secure the water supply to Orleans Parish causing
increased fires.

that certain defendants intentionally, negligently and with malfeasance, misfeasance,
and non-feasance failed to protect the public from marauding bands of convicted
felons and persons who were ""already in the criminal justice system™, illegally
armed and terrorizing law-abiding citizens, including killing them and
destroying property

that certain defendants intentionally, negligently and with malfeasance, misfeasance,
and non-feasance failed to safeguard the identification records and criminal
records of convicted sex offenders, including rapists and pedophiles, and
"injected™ these individual into the refugees at the Louisiana Superdome and
convention Center

that certain defendants intentionally, negligently and with malfeasance, misfeasance,
and non-feasance failed to safeguard the contents of the evidence room at
Criminal District Court for to Parish of Orleans ...with the result that evidence
was lost and/or compromised and successful prosecution thwarted.

that certain defendants failed to safeguard the names of identifying prisoners who
were in Orleans Parish prison.

that certain defendants intentionally, negligently and with malfeasance, misfeasance,
and non-feasance caused the pollution of the environment of the territory and
atmosphere of the parish of Orleans.’

(Doc. 1, Complaint, pp. 33-45.

In the Fourth Supplemental and Amending Complaint (Doc. 12), plaintiffs amended the

allegations against the non-United States defendants from simply supplemental jurisdiction to state

original federal subject matter jurisdiction "since plaintiffs were deprived of rights to life, property

"It will be noted that the initial complaint contains an inordinate amount of irrelevant rhetoric which has no
place in any legal pleading. Counsel for plaintiffs is on notice that any further diatribes such as:

Plaintiffs long for the days in the City of New Orleans and in the State of Louisiana when certain

behavior was simply UNACCEPTABLE TO POLITE, RESPECTFUL, LAW-ABIDING

CITIZENRY. Plaintiffs long for the days when the citizenry, black and white, would not tolerate

idleness, drug use or crime-a land in which children knew their father's last name, because he

lived in a house which he had acquired through his own industry....
will not be tolerated and may subject him to sanctions. (Doc. 1,Complaint at p. 47.)
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and the pursuit of happiness, guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution, and the law, statutes and treaties
amendatory thereto, by state and/or governmental action, giving rise to purely federal causes of
action."
In the Eleventh Supplemental and Amending Complaint in a Class Action Lawsuit (Doc. 78)
plaintiffs amended Article IV (the jurisdictional allegations) of the Complaint as follows:
More particularly, this Court has jurisdiction of the claims herein asserted
by virtue of the following, inter alia:

Original jurisdiction pursuant to the Second®, Fifth® and Fourteen®
(sic) Amendments to the United States Constitution

Original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 USC § 1331"

Original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 USC § 1346%
Original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 USC § 2571, et seq.™

®This amendment provides, "A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the
right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." U.S. Const. amend. II.

This amendment provides:

No person shall be held to answer for a capital or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a
presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or in
the Militia, when in actual service in time of War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject
for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any
criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty or property, without
due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use without just compensation.
U.S. Const. amend. V.

19This amendment states in relevant part that: “No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge
the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty or
property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws."
U.S. Const. amend XIV.

YThis statute provides," The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under
the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the Untied States.” 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

12This statute provides for the instances where the district courts of the United States have jurisdiction over
the United States. 28 U.S.C. § 1346 including the Federal Tort Claims Act and Tucker Act provisions which will be
discussed infra.

B These statutes also provide the procedures to proceed against the United States under the Federal Tort
Claims Act. 28 USC § 2571.
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Original jurisdiction pursuant to Title XI of the Civil Rights Act*

Original jurisdiction pursuant to 42 USC § 1983"

Original jurisdiction pursuant to 42 USC § 1985

Original jurisdiction pursuant to 42 USC § 1986"

Original jurisdiction pursuant to 42 USC § 19888

Original jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act, 28

USC § 1332, by virtue of the fact that the matter in controversy in

this civil action exceeds the sum of $5 million, exclusive of interest

and costs.
This Court also has jurisdiction of the claims herein asserted by virtue of the
following environmental statutes, inter alia, which defendants violated, thus entitled
Plaintiffs to damages from defendants:

The Oil Pollution Act of 1990 and precursor legislation

The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and
Liability Act and precursor legislation

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act
The Clean Water Act

The Clean Air Act

The National Environmental Policy Act

The Toxic Substances Control Act

Y This "citation™ is overly broad and incomprehensible. While the Court assumes that this refers to the
Civil Rights Act contained in Title 42 of the United States Code, such an amorphous citation without more
specificity renders this jurisdictional basis a nullity in the Court's eyes.

> This statute provides a civil action for deprivation of rights and will be discussed infra.

®This statute provides a cause of action for a conspiracy to interfere with civil rights.

Y This statute provides a cause of action for neglecting to prevent the interference with civil rights.

¥ This statute provides for federal jurisdiction, attorneys' fees and expert fees for civil right violations.
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The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act

The Louisiana Environmental Quality Act

The Louisiana Air Control Law

The Louisiana Water Control Law

The Louisiana Oil Spill Prevention and Response Act
Eleventh Supplemental and Amending Complaint (Doc. 128 at 4-5).

With this litany of alleged bases for jurisdiction, the Court will first address the propriety of
this wholesale approach to jurisdiction and the actual basis upon which this Court recognizes that
it entertains jurisdiction at this point in time under Fed. R. Civ. P 12(b)(1). The Court will then
address each individual motion in the context of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) to the extent there is a
jurisdictional basis for any claims against a specific defendant. The Court will now outline the legal

parameters of that investigation.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure allows a party to challenge the subject
matter jurisdiction of the district court to hear a case. The burden of proof for a Rule 12(b)(1)
motion is on the party asserting jurisdiction. Ramming v. United States, 281 F.3d 158 (5" Cir.
2001). As the Fifth Circuit has stated:

When a Rule 12(b)(1) motion is filed in conjunction with other Rule 12
motions, the court should consider the Rule 12(b)(1) jurisdictional attack before
addressing any attack on the merits. Hitt v. City of Pasadena, 561 F.2d 606, 608 (5"
Cir. 1977) (per curium). This requirement prevents a court without jurisdiction from
prematurely dismissing a case with prejudice. Id. The court’s dismissal of a
plaintiff’s case because the plaintiff lacks subject matter jurisdiction is not a
determination of the merits and does not prevent the plaintiff from pursing a claim
in a court that does have jurisdiction. 1d.
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When a defendant attacks the complaint because it fails to state a legally cognizable claim,
Rule 12(b)(6) provides the appropriate challenge. The test for determining the sufficiency of a
complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) is that ““a complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a
claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his
claim which would entitle him to relief.”” 1d. citing Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957).
The Fifth Circuit explained:

Subsumed within the rigorous standard of the Conley test is the requirement
that the plaintiff’s complaint be stated with enough clarity to enable a court or an
opposing party to determine whether a claim is sufficiently alleged. Elliottv. Foufas,
867 F.2d 877, 880 (5" Cir. 1989). Further, “the plaintiff’s complaint is to be
construed in a light most favorable to plaintiff, and the allegations contained therein
are to be taken as true.” Oppenheimer v. Prudential Securities, Inc. 94 F.3d 189, 194
(5™ Cir. 1996). This is consistent with the well-established policy that the plaintiff
be given every opportunity to state a claim. Hitt, 561 F.2d at 608. In other words,
a motion to dismiss an action for failure to state a claim”admits the facts alleged in
the complaint, but challenges plaintiff’s rights to relief based upon those facts.” Tel-
Phonic Servs., Inc. v. TBS Int’l, Inc., 975 F.2d 1134, 1137 (5" Cir. 1992). Finally,
when considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the
district court must examine the complaint to determine whether the allegations
provide relief on any possible theory. Cinel v. Connick, 15 F.3d 1338, 1341 (5" Cir.
1994).

Id. at 161-62.%°
With these standards in mind, the Court will first address the complaint and its 11
amendments pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P 12(b)(1) to determine whether the Court has subject matter

jurisdiction based on the allegations of the complaints.

JURISDICTION

The Court recognizes that the City Defendants have also moved for dismissal pursuant to Rule 11 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. However, as will be discerned from the Court's analysis, this basis need not be
addressed as Rule 12(b)(1) and (6) provide sufficient grounds for dismissal.

9
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Employing the Rule 12(b)(1) standards, the Court finds the following jurisdictional

allegations have no merit.

CAFA Jurisdiction

Plaintiffs' invocation of the Class Action Fairness Act, ("CAFA™) 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2),
based on the fact that the matter in controversy in O'Dwyer exceeds the sum of $5 million, exclusive
of interest and costs, ignores salient exceptions thereto—where a defendant is sued in its home state
by a class comprised primarily of plaintiffs from that state, where the case involves a purely local
controversy, and where the primary defendants are state actors. 28 U.S.C. 8 1332(d) (3), (4) and (5).

Subsection 4 mandates a district court decline jurisdiction:

(A) (1) over aclass action in which—

()] greater than two-thirds of the members of all proposed plaintiff
classes in the aggregate are citizens of the State in which the action was
originally filed;

(I1)  atleast 1 defendant is a defendant—

(@aa) fromwhom significant relief is sought by members of
the plaintiff class;
(bb)  whose alleged conduct forms a significant
basis for the claims asserted by the proposed
plaintiff class; and
(cc)  who is a citizen of the State in which the action was
originally filed; and
(1) principal injuries resulting from the alleged conduct or any related
conduct of each defendant were incurred in the State in which the
action was originally filed; and

(i) during the 3-year period preceding the filing of that class
action, no other class action has been filed asserting the same
or similar factual allegations against any of the defendants on
behalf of the same or other persons; or

10
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(B)  two-thirds or more of the members of all proposed plaintiff classes in the aggregate
and the primary defendants, are citizens of the State in which the action was
originally filed.

Clearly here, more than two-thirds of the proposed plaintiff classes in the aggregate and primary
defendants are citizens of Louisiana, the state in which this action was filed.

Subsection (3) also provides for discretionary abstention the contours of which support this
Court's belief that in the interests of justice and looking at the totality of the circumstances it would
decline jurisdiction (if it were not so mandated under subsection (4)) since the claims implicate
Louisiana intrastate interests, Louisiana law would apply, Louisiana has a distinct nexus with class
members, the damages caused and/or sustained were within Louisiana and the primary defendants
are all Louisiana citizens save for the United States. Subsection (5) further provides that CAFA
jurisdiction shall not apply to any class action in which the primary defendants are States, State

officials or other governmental entities against whom the district court may be foreclosed from

ordering relief. Thus, there is no CAFA jurisdictional basis for this suit.

11
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Various Federal Statutes

Plaintiffs’ wholesale list of federal jurisdictional grounds borders on the absurd, and the
Court will address these at this time. Federal courts are duty-bound to examine the basis of subject
matter jurisdiction. Union Planters Bank National Assoc. v. Salih, 369 F.3d 457 (5" Cir. 2004)
citing Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't.,, 523 U.S. 83, 94-95 (1998). As this Court has
previously noted, as stated in Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, § 1210:

As is true in the case of pleading a federal question under Section 1331, the

entirety of the complaint must support the jurisdictional allegation in a case based

on aclaimarising under a special federal question statute. Enough should be alleged

in the statement of the claim to show that the action does arise under the statute on

which it purports to be based. Indeed, it is these statements in the body of the

pleading that give the district court subject matter jurisdiction and not the mere

conclusory reference to or recitation of a federal statute in the jurisdictional

allegations.
Id. at 146.

With this context in mind, the Court will now address the above-noted jurisdictional listing
contained in this matter and dispose of the blatantly unsupported allegations. This litany of statutes

for which no factual underpinning is provided will not be allowed to stand; as such, the Court finds

counsel's action herein verging on sanctionable under Fed. R. Civ. P. 11.

a. The Oil Pollution Act of 1990(*'OPA™), 33 U.S.C. § 2701
This statute pertains only to the discharge, or threatened discharge of oil upon navigable
waters of the United States or adjoining shorelines. OPA imposes liability for the recovery cost and
damages that result from an oil spill on:
... each responsible party for a vessel or a facility from which oil is discharged, or

which poses the substantial threat of a discharge of oil, into or upon the navigable
water or adjoining shore line or the exclusive economic zone.

12
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33 U.S.C. § 2701. The statute further requires the all claims for removal costs or damages shall be
presented first to the responsible party or guarantor of the source. 33 U.S.C. § 2713(a). A claim
under OPA is a "request, made in writing for a sum certain, for compensation for damages or
removal causes or resulting from an incident.” 33 U.S.C. § 2701(3). The presentation of a claim
is @ mandatory condition precedent to filing a private lawsuit under OPA. Boca Cigea Hotel, Inc.
v. Bouchard Trans. Co. Inc., 51 F.3d 235 (11" Cir. 1995). As such, this jurisdictional claim has no
merit as this prerequisite has not been fulfilled. Furthermore, the statute does not contemplate the

harm alleged herein—damages resulting from a natural disaster and catastrophic occurrence.

b. The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and
Liability Act (""CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. 8§ 9601, et seq.

CERCLA's primary purpose is to facilitate the prompt clean up of hazardous waste sites by
placing the ultimate financial burden on those responsible for creating the harmful condition at a
waste site. Cooper v. Armstrong Rubber Company, 1989 WL 60338 (S. D. Miss. 1989). This statute
clearly has no bearing on the factual underpinnings of this suit with respect to any of the named

defendants and shall be dismissed.

C. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act (""FWPCA™)33 U.S.C. 8 1365
and the Clean Water Act ("CWA™), 33 U.S.C. § 1251

These statutes prohibit the discharge of pollutants. To that end, the CWA establishes a
permit system and prohibits any discharge without authorization by permit. 33 U.S.C. §81311(a);
1342. Cooper, at * 11, n. 2. A private right of action for citizens is provided for under the CWA at

33 U.S.C. 8 1365(a) to sue for the violation of an effluent standard or limitation under the statute.

13



Case 2:05-cv-04182-SRD-JCW  Document 788  Filed 07/19/2006 Page 14 of 36

The CWA requires a 60 day notice of the alleged violation under the CWA to the Administrator of
the EPA, the state in which the alleged violation occurred, and to any alleged violator. 33 U.S.C.
8 1365(b)(1)(A). To begin, it appears to this Court that this law is not designed to address the facts
of the case at hand. This statute addresses on-going pollution concerns, not the alleged results of
catastrophic flooding. Furthermore, there are no allegations that the required notice has been
provided as has been found to be a condition precedent to jurisdiction. Cooper, at 4. As such, this

jurisdictional allegation shall be dismissed.

d. The Clean Air Act
Like the WPA, this statue addresses violations of federal emission standards. It may not be
utilized to address wholly past violations of the Act, and it contains a sixty-day notice provision like
that found in the WPA.. As such, for the same reasons noted above, this jurisdictional invocation

shall be dismissed.

e. National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 42 U.S.C. § 4321, et seq.
"The fundamental purpose of NEPA "is to compel federal decision makers to consider

the environmental consequences of their actions.™ Atlanta Coalition on the Transportation Crisis,
Inc. v. Atlanta Regional Commission, 599 F.2d 1333 (5" Cir. 1979) citing McGarity, The Courts,
the Agencies, and NEPA Threshold Issues, 55 Tex. L.Rev. 801, 804 (1977). Congress did not

intend NEPA to apply to state, local, or private actions hence, the statute speaks only to "federal

agencies" and requires impact statements only as to "major federal actions. Id. In other words, this

14
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provision concerns the requirement of a federal agency to issue an environmental impact statement.
The Court is at a loss as to how this statute would provide jurisdiction over any defendant save a
United States agency and furthermore, has not been enlightened by plaintiffs' pleadings how this
statute was violated. There are no allegations that an Environmental Impact Statement was not

rendered. Accordingly, this allegation shall be dismissed.

f. The Toxic Substances Control Act (""TOSCA'™), 15 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.

This statute is designed to regulate the manufacture, distribution, sale, use and disposal of
chemical substances which present an unreasonable risk of injury to health or environment. Cooper,
at *6 citing 15 U.S.C. § 2605. Again, the 60-day notice is applicable to this statute. As stated in
Cooper:

Additionally, the citizen-suit provision of TOSCA only permits suits against any

person "who is alleged to be in violation" of the Act. Consistent with the Supreme

Court's interpretation of that phrase in Gwaltney, 108 S. Ct. 376, this action-one for

"wholly past" violations—may not be maintained. See Brewer v. Raven, 680 F. Supp.

1176, 1184 (M.D.Tenn. 1988) (relief available only for "ongoing violations of

TOSCA).

Id. Accordingly, the allegations based on TOSCA shall be dismissed.

g. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA™), 42 U.S.C. 8§
6901, et seq.

This statute governs "the disposal of solid waste™ and does allow actions for past violations.
The statute authorizes suit against "any past or present generator, past or present transporter, past
or present owner or operator of a treatment, storage or disposal facility who has contributed or is

contributing to the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation or disposal or any

15
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solid or hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health
or environment." 42 U.S.C. 8 6972(a)(1)(B). The case at bar concerns the damages caused by the
preparation for and the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina. This statute simply does not address the

kinds of harm alleged in this suit and shall be dismissed.

h. Louisiana Environmental Laws

Plaintiffs invoke as a basis for jurisdiction "The Louisiana Environmental Quality Act, the
Louisiana Air Control Act, The Louisiana Water Control Law and the Louisiana Oil Spill Prevention
and Response Act" without further explication or citation. The Court has been provided no specific
factual allegations or arguments as to how these laws were violated. Louisiana statutes would not
provide federal jurisdiction unless the Court would exercise its supplemental jurisdiction under 28
U.S.C. §1367. The Court will address supplemental jurisdiction at the conclusion of this opinion.

The Court must remind counsel that as a practicing attorney, this kind of buckshot pleading
will not be permitted. Counsel is hereby put on notice that any further barrage of meaningless and
vituperative rantings and attachment of newspaper clippings to pleadings as "proof" is a waste of
this Court's resources. This Court takes its duty to adjudicate the claims of plaintiffs against
defendants arising out of Hurricane Katrina as a solemn and weighty duty; pleadings filed in the
nature of those by counsel in O'Dwyer belie the seriousness of this matter and frankly make a
mockery of the Court's duties to justice and application of the law.

Thus, what remains as a viable basis for federal question jurisdiction with respect to the
parties under consideration in this opinion are the allegations of constitutional violations brought

against the state actors pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 1985, 1986
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and 1988. Thus, the Court will now discuss in the context of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the various
motions brought by the City of New Orleans, Ray Nagin both individually and in his official
capacity, Eddie Compass, both individually and in his official capacity as Chief of Police, Kimberly
Williamson Butler, individually and in her official capacity as Clerk of Court for the Orleans Parish
Criminal District Court, Kathleen Blanco, both individually and in her official capacity as Governor
of the State of Louisiana, Eddie Jordan, both individually and in his official capacity as District
Attorney for the City of New Orleans based on plaintiffs' allegations concerning constitutional
violations under the constitutional amendments noted above and the civil rights statutes noted. The
sufficiency of those allegations are suspect and will be addressed in the context of the specific
motions filed.

Issues concerning jurisdiction and the sufficiency of the allegations against United States
of America, (including the Army Corps of Engineers ("the Corps™) and the Federal Emergency
Management Agency ("FEMA"), requires a separate analysis and will be addressed hereafter.

The Court will now address the City defendants' Motion to Dismiss.

17



Case 2:05-cv-04182-SRD-JCW  Document 788  Filed 07/19/2006 Page 18 of 36

MOTIONTODISMISS FORWANT OF STANDING OR, ALTERNATIVELY

PURSUANT TO FRCP 12(B)(1), FRCP 12(B)(6) AND FRCP 11(B)(2) WITH

INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT THEREOF FILED BY

THE CITY OF NEW ORLEANS, THE HONORABLE C. RAY NAGIN,

MAYOR, AND FORMER SUPERINTENDENT OF POLICE EDWIN

COMPASS, 111

City Defendants, the City of New Orleans (“the City"), the Honorable C. Ray Nagin ("Mayor
Nagin"), and former Superintendent of Police Edwin Compass, |11 contend that plaintiffs have failed
to properly establish standing before the Court. Second, movers maintain that the complaints fail
to aver the basis for the Court’s jurisdiction or allege a non-frivolous case or controversy that arises
out of federal law, and therefore ought to be dismissed pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1). In the
alternative, the movers maintain that plaintiffs have failed to state a cause of action as they have
failed to allege that they were deprived of a right, privilege, or immunity secured by the Constitution
or laws of the United States making dismissal pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) proper. Finally,
and in the alternative, they maintain that the plaintiffs’ claims are legally frivolous and therefore
may be dismissed for failure to comply with Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(2) in that plaintiffs do not supply
the Court with a basis for subject matter jurisdiction and the allegations are otherwise without legal
merit.

Plaintiffs contend that these defendants are liable to them based on "a number of legal
theories against public officials™ including incompetence, violation of duty and statute, negligence,
gross negligence, malfeasance, misfeasance, non-feasance, and intentional infliction of emotional
distress. Plaintiffs further contend that the "torts errors and omissions committed by [these]

defendants satisfy the requirements for excepting from immunity from liability because of

malicious, intentional, willful, outrageous, reckless or flagrant misconduct. La. Rev. Stat.
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9:2798.1(C)(2). In addition, plaintiffs contend that the defendants violated a criminal statute, La.

Rev. Stat. 14:134 concerning malfeasance in office.

Section 1983

As the Court has dispensed with the Rule 12(b)(1) analysis, it will now squarely address the
issue of whether plaintiffs have failed to state a claim under federal civil rights law against the City
of New Orleans, Ray Nagin both individually and in his official capacity, Eddie Compass, both
individually and in his official capacity as Chief of Police, arise under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 which
provides in pertinent part:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or

usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be

subjected, any citizen of the United States or any person within the jurisdiction

thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the

Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in

equity, or other proper proceeding for redress.
42 U.S.C. § 1983. This statute is considered the primary vehicle for brining constitutional claims
against local governments and officials.

As this Court stated in Vanderbrook v. Peck, 2004 WL 944518 (E.D.La. April 28, 2004):

There are two essential elements to a § 1983 claim: (1) that the conduct complained

of was committed by a person acting under color of state law; and (2) that the

conduct deprived a person of rights, privileges or immunities secured by the

Constitution or laws of the United States. Parrattv. Taylor, 451 U.S. 527, 535, 1010

S. Ct. 1908, 68 L.Ed. 2d 420 (1981). Furthermore, there must be “ direct causal link
between the alleged constitutional deprivations and the official conduct by

2counsel for plaintiffs filed a pleading on March 15, 2006 in response to a Supplemental Memorandum
filed by the City Defendants. In this memorandum, counsel describes the details of Michael Cormick's forced
evacuation and the alleged arrest of counsel himself. He then contends that because "boilerplate™ arguments were
used in that Supplemental Memorandum that came from another civil action, that he can do no better than to
incorporate by reference the constitutional arguments made by counsel in that other action and "respectfully directs"
the Court to those pleadings. Such arguments and incorporation by reference to pleadings filed in another case is
meaningless, unacceptable and contrary to the rules and workings of this Court.
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defendants causing the deprivations.” Bieros v. Nicola et al, 839 F. Supp. 332
(E.D.Pa. 1993). A §1983 plaintiff must allege the particular facts of the defendant’s
conduct in its complaint. Jacquez, 801 F.2d at 793; Rodriguez v. Avita, 871 F.2d
552, 554 (5" Cir. 1989); Mills v. Criminal District Court, 837 F.2d 677, 678 (5" Cir.
1988). Conclusory allegations are insufficient for civil rights cases. Shultea v.
Wood, 47 F.3d 1427, 1433 (5" Cir. 1995).

Id. at*3. Indeed, a plaintiff's complaint is insufficient if it merely contains a litany of conclusory
allegations; the causes of action must be pleaded with a certain level of specificity. Causey v. Parish
of Tangipahoa, 167 F.Supp.2d 898, 903-04 (E.D.La. 2001).
In Evansv. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2004 WL 179193(E.D.La. Jan.
28, 2004), this Court explained that in order to establish a prima facie case under § 1983, plaintiffs
must allege either a constitutional violation or a violation of a federal statutory right. See 1 Sheldon
H. Nahmod, Civil Rights and Civil Liberties Litigation: The Law of Section 1983, at 56 (3d ed.1991).
If the plaintiff alleges a violation of a constitutional right, the plaintiff must prove
that the defendant's conduct was the cause of the constitutional deprivation. The
plaintiff may allege violation of the Fourteenth Amendment, procedural due process
or equal protection, as well as other violations of provisions in the Bill of Rights that
apply to the states. Id. at 56-57. If the plaintiff alleges a violation of a federal
statutory right, he or she must also prove that the defendant's conduct was the cause
of this statutory deprivation. Id at 57. Regardless of whether a plaintiff alleges a
constitutional or statutory deprivation, or both, he or she must demonstrate that the
challenged conduct was undertaken “under color of state law;” meaning that the
individuals acted in an official capacity and in a manner authorized by state law.
Price v. Housing Authority of New Orleans, 2002 WL 31308421 at *4 (E.D.La.
Oct.11, 2002).
As to the suit against Mayor Nagin in his official capacity and Police Chief Compass in his official
capacity, a suit against a government official in his official capacity is treated as a suit against the
entity-here the City of New Orleans. See Lee v. Morial, 2000 WL 726882 at *2 (E.D.La. June 2,
2000). Thus, the analysis is the same for the City, the Mayor and Police Chief Compass.

Furthermore, no liability exists for governmental entities based on a vicarious liability or a
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respondeat superior theory. Price v. Housing Authority of New Orleans, 2002 WL 179193 (E.D.La.

Oct. 11, 2002) Instead the municipality will be liable only when an official policy or custom inflicts

the injury of which the plaintiff complains. Evans at *6.

Using plaintiffs' "counts™ as set out above, the following allegations have been made as the

basis for plaintiffs claims:

1)
()

(3)
(4)
()
(6)

(")
(8)

(9)

failure to order timely evacuation of critical care patients in hospitals;

failure to ensure competent design, construction, maintenance and inspection of the
levee systems for the Industrial Canal, the London Avenue Canal and the
Seventeenth Street Canal,

failure to timely stop the flooding in New Orleans;

failure to secure the water supply to Orleans Parish causing increased fires;

failure to protect the public from "urban terrorists";

failure to safeguard the identification records and criminal records of convicted sex
offenders, including rapists and pedophiles, and "injected" these individuals into the
refugee population at the Louisiana Superdome and convention Center;

failure to safeguard the contents of the evidence room at Criminal District Court;

failure to safeguard the names of identifying prisoners who were in Orleans Parish
prison; and

failure to prevent the pollution of the environment of the territory.

Simply put, none of these allegations of “wrong-doing” constitute a violation of the United States

Constitution, its Amendments or any federal statute.?* Plaintiffs have not identified or articulated

%In one of the innumerable supplemental memoranda filed by counsel, he opines that one Michael

Cormick:

...was forcibly removed from his home in Uptown New Orleans, at gunpoint, by members of the
Louisiana National Guard, on Tuesday or Wednesday, August 30 or 31, 2005. Mr. Cormick had
survived the storm with his person and his home intact, had plenty of food and water, and had no
need for anyone's assistance, nor did he request any assistance. Nevertheless, he was forcibly
removed from his home and transported out of the City, entirely against his will.

At 0005 hours on Tuesday September 20, 2005, within 12-hours of having filed this
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with specificity the particular plaintiffs allegedly harmed or the constitutional rights impeded by the
actions outlined in the various "counts” of the suit. Furthermore, they have not alleged with any
specificity that the defendants had an official policy or custom which inflicted injury on any specific
plaintiff. Thus, plaintiffs have failed to state a cause of action against the City of New Orleans,
Mayor Nagin in his official capacity and Police Chief Compass in his official capacity, and the

Motion to Dismiss will be granted in this regard.

Mayor Nagin and Police Chief Compass in their Individual Capacities

Plaintiffs also alleged those same defalcations against Mayor Nagin and Police Chief
Compass in their individual capacity. "Personal capacity suits which seek to impose individual
liability upon a government officer for actions taken under color of state law are recognized under
§1983." Toga Society, Inc. v. Lee, 2004 WL 2357733 (E.D.La. Oct. 20, 2004); Hafer v. Meloi, 502
U.S. 21, 25 (1991).

As noted by this Court in Toga:

A state official can be sued in his individual capacity and be held personally
liable under § 1983 if it can be shown that the official, acting under color of state
law, caused the deprivation of a federal right. Hafer, 502 at 25-31. However, such

persons are entitled to assert personal immunity defenses such as objectively
reasonable reliance on existing law or qualified immunity.

lawsuit, the undersigned was a victim of criminal trespass on his property by members of the

Louisiana State Police, who handcuffed the undersigned with his hands behind his back, and threw

him on the ground, causing injuries. During this "encounter", repeated requests for information,

such as "Am | under arrest"; "What are the nature of the charges against me, if any?" and "What is

going on here", were met by silence or instructions to "Shut the ____ up". Thereafter the Louisiana

State Police kidnaped the undersigned and turned custody over to employees of the Louisiana

Department of Corrections,. . . .
Doc. 157 in O'Dwyer v. United States, C.A. No. 05-4181. These allegations obviously do not implicate any of the
City defendants considered in this section of this opinion; rather, it would appear to be against the Louisiana
National Guard and the Louisiana State Police, neither of which have been named as defendants.
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Id. at *1.

To determine liability, a court must "determine whether plaintiff has alleged the violation
of aconstitutional right. Second, if the plaintiff has alleged a constitutional violation, the court
must decide if the conduct was objectively reasonable in light of clearly established law at the time
the challenged conduct occurred.” Glen v. City of Tyler, 242 F.3d 307, 313 (5" Cir. 2001). While
the issue of whether a constitutional violation has been alleged is considered to be preliminary, a
court may pretermit that issue and determine whether the alleged violations were ones clearly
established at the time of the occurrence. Ebanks v. Stalder, 1995 WL 769726 (E.D.La. Dec. 27,
1995) citing Siegert v. Gilley, 500 U.S. 226 (1991). "A right is ‘clearly established' where "the
contours of a right asserted are sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand that
what he is doing violates that right. . . . If reasonable public officials could differ on the lawfulness
of the defendant's actions, the defendant is entitled to qualified immunity.” Ebanks, at *6 citing
White v. Taylor, 959 F.2d 539, 544 (5" Cir. 1992) (citations omitted).

In the case as bar, the Court has already noted its belief that no constitutional violation has
been alleged. Furthermore, taking the Seigert approach, plaintiffs fail to demonstrate how any of the
conduct alleged was not objectively reasonable in light of clearly established law at the time the
challenged conduct occurred. The City Defendants were faced with a natural disaster of catastrophic
proportions. The nine enumerated "defalcations” do not constitute conduct that reasonable public

officials would reasonable conceive violated a clearly establish constitutional right. Only if these
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action cross this threshold would this suit survive qualified immunity against the Mayor and the
Police Chief.??

One other dimension of the original complaint bears discussion. At page 9, Article I11(E),
plaintiffs contend that they sustained mental suffering and emotional distress as a result of the
"government's ultra vires acts such as claimed 'mandatory evacuation due to exigent circumstances'
... and deprivation of food and water to hungry and thirsty so-called "hold-outs™ who remained in
the City because the U.S. Constitution give them the right to bear arms and protect their property
at their own risk...." Also as plaintiffs have cited to the Fifth Amendment, the Court must consider
whether these allegations would state a claim for a violation for a person’s right to life, liberty or
property.

To begin, the allegations as to which of the plaintiffs herein were forced to evacuate and who
were not are absent in the actual complaints and amending complaints.” As to the issue of whether
plaintiffs’ rights “to bear arms and protect their property” were violated, La. Rev. Stat. 29:277(D)
provides that a local disaster or emergency may be declared by the parish president or in this
instance, the Mayor. Once that power is utilized, he is empowered under this Louisiana statute to
“direct and compel the evacuation of all or part of the population from any stricken or threatened

area withing the boundaries of the parish if he deems this action necessary for mitigation, response

22Fyrthermore, the Court notes that in order to survive a qualified immunity defense, a plaintiff must
articulate specific conduct and action giving rise to a constitutional violation. Mahrous v. O'Brien, 1998 WL 166189,
*1-2 (E.D.La. April 8, 1998), citing Shultea v. Wood, 47 F.3d 1427, 1434 (5" Cir.1995). While Shultea normally
requires a court to allow plaintiffs to respond to the allegations of qualified immunity pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 7(a),
the Court finds that considering the eleven supplemental and amending complaints and the numerous oppositions
and supplemental oppositions filed in response to this and the other motions, the Court will not order nor allow a
Shultea response to be filed with respect to any of the motions filed herein.

ZMr. Cormick’s and Mr. O’Dwyer’s allegations are not contained in the pleadings and again do not

implicate the defendants under consideration herein as both were “harmed” by state police and/or the National
Guard.

24



Case 2:05-cv-04182-SRD-JCW  Document 788  Filed 07/19/2006 Page 25 of 36

or recovery measure.” La. Rev. Stat. 29:277(F)(5). This act does not require a predeprivation
hearing and the law in general does not require one when the state or here, the municipality, acts to
avert an imminent catastrophe. Obviously, the Mayor could have believed he had police powers to
protect the public safety by ordering the evacuation. Thus, a reasonable official in his position
would not understand that what he was doing violated a right. Assuming he did violate a
constitutional right, which the Court is unprepared to find, the City defendants would be entitled to
qualified immunity. Miller v. Campbell County Wyoming, 722 F.Supp. 687, 696 (D. Wyoming
1989); Ebanks, at *6 citing White v. Taylor, 959 F.2d 539, 544 (5" Cir. 1992) (citations omitted).
As to this second issue-the Fifth Amendment—the court in Massachusetts Coalition of
Citizens with Disabilities v. Civil Defense Agency and Office of Emergency Preparedness of the
Commonwealth of Mass., 649 F.2d 71 (1* Cir. 1981) found that the Due Process Clause does not
provide the right that an evacuation plan should guarantee the safety of all residents. “That clause
provides that the states may not deprive their citizens of life, liberty, or property without due process
of law.” In enacting an evacuation plan and in implementing that plan, Mayor Nagin and Police
Chief Compass did not deprive any person of life liberty or property, rather they attempted to do the
opposite—provide some degree of protection against a threat to life the source of which threat was
not the state. 1d. at 78. As such, the claims under the Fifth Amendment fail as well.
Accordingly, pursuant to the City Defendants' motion, all constitutional claims brought
pursuant to 8 1983 and its progeny will be dismissed. Thus, the only claims remaining against these
defendants are the multitudinous state law claims over which the Court might have jurisdiction
under its supplemental jurisdiction which will be addressed after the other substantive motions are

considered.
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MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO F.R.C.P. 12(B)(6) FILED BY
KIMBERLY WILLIAMSON BUTLER, IN HER INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY
AND AMENDED MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO F.R.C.P. 12(B)(6)
FILED BY KIMBERLY WILLIAMSON BUTLER, IN HER INDIVIDUAL
AND OFFICIAL CAPACITY
Kimberly Williamson Butler ("Butler") moves the Court for dismissal of those claims
pertaining to her individually and in her official capacity as Clerk of Criminal District Court, Parish
of Orleans, State of Louisiana. Plaintiffs have noted that Counts VI, VII and VIII contain the
allegations made against her. Thus, the Court must examine if a claim has been stated under federal
law for:
(6) failure to safeguard the identification records and criminal records of convicted sex
offenders, including rapists and pedophiles, and injecting these individual into the
refugees at the Louisiana Superdome and Convention Center;

(7 failure to safeguard the contents of the evidence room at Criminal District Court; and

(8) failure to safeguard the names of (sic) identifying prisoners who were in Orleans
Parish.

Plaintiffs* contend that these actions constitute criminal malfeasance, over which this Court
neither has jurisdiction, nor about which plaintiffs have any right to prosecute. In addition plaintiffs
seek civil damages for Butler's "willful failure to fulfill the duties of her office by failing to

safeguard the contents of the evidence room at Criminal District Court, and criminal records, as

24Again, plaintiffs' memorandum in opposition to this motion contains statements like "It is truly
remarkable that elected and appointed public officials and the government bodies which they have responsibility for
operating competently seem to think that they bear absolutely no legal responsibility to anyone for their criminal
malfeasance and willful misconduct in discharging the duties of their offices." Such editorializing is pointless and
unprofessional, considering that in a 12 page brief, the Court is graced with precious little law citation other than a
page of citation from Black's law dictionary, citation to a criminal statute, and the self-same litany of jurisdictional
bases including the Clean Water Act and the Clean Air Act with respect to the Clerk of Criminal Court. At page 11
of this filing, counsel cites Judge Porteous' denial of a Motion to Dismiss in Berthelot v. Boh Brothers, C.A. No. 05-
4182 rendered with respect to James Construction Group, L.L.C. Counsel fails to comprehend that with respect to
federal claims brought pursuant to civil rights laws, constitutional violations must be stated in non-conclusory form.
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Hurricane KATRINA approached the New Orleans metropolitan area.” Plaintiffs' Memorandum
in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Filed on Behalf of the Clerk of Criminal Court at 5.

Using the same analysis the Court employed with respect to the City Defendants, the Court
finds that plaintiffs' have failed to state a cause of action against Butler. As to a cause of action
against her in her official capacity, these allegations do not constitute constitutional wrongs. As to
a cause of action against her in her individual capacity, even if there were a constitutional violation,
her conduct was objectively reasonable in light of clearly established law at the time the challenged
conduct occurred. No one had ever experienced the flooding that occurred as a result of Katrina and
Butler's conduct, while unfortunate, cannot be found to be actionable. As with any politician, in the
event that the populace believes that an official did not execute his or her duties properly, the
populace votes that individual out of office. That outcome is that which occurred here and no
liability will lie in this regard. Thus, the Motion to Dismiss will be granted in this regard and the

issue of supplemental jurisdiction over these claims will be addressed at the end of this opinion.

MOTION TO DISMISS DEFENDANT GOVERNOR KATHLEEN BLANCO
AND THE STATE OF LOUISIANAZ

Governor Kathleen Blanco, individually and in her official capacity as the Governor of the
State of Louisiana and the State of Louisiana have moved for the dismissal of this matter with

respect to the alleged violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. In plaintiffs’ opposition to these motions, they

\While the Department of Transportation for the State of Louisiana ("DOTD") was added in the Sixth
Amending and Supplemental Complaint, the State of Louisiana did not include them in this particular motion, except
in a reply memorandum. There is a separately filed and noticed motion concerning the DOTD (Doc. 321). As a
result, the Court will forego an analysis with respect to that entity until it addresses that particular motion.
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cite to Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, and 9 as being applicable to the Governor and the State. The Court finds

that the motions to dismiss have merit.

Sovereign Immunity

The Court cannot entertain jurisdiction over the Governor of the State of Louisiana in her
official capacity and the State of Louisiana as they are protected from suit by the doctrine of
sovereign immunity as found in the Eleventh Amendment of the Constitution.? By statute, the State
of Louisiana has not waived its sovereign immunity for suits brought in federal court based on
violations of “constitutional, civil and human rights.” Richardson v. Southern University, 118 F.3d
450, 453 (5" Cir. 1997); La. Rev. Stat. 13:5106(A)." Thus, the Eleventh Amendment bars suit
against a state entity such as the Governor in her official capacity and the State of Louisiana itself.

As such, the claims against them shall be dismissed pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1).

Qualified Immunity

Likewise, for the same reasons noted with respect to the City defendants, the Court finds that
Governor Blanco in her individual capacity is entitled to qualified immunity as concerns any cause
of action brought pursuantto 28 U.S.C. § 1983. Clearly, Governor Blanco's actions were objectively
reasonable in light of clearly established law at the time these alleged violations occurred. She had

to confront a catastrophic occurrence unlike anything experienced by any state official before,

%64The Judicial power of the United States shall not be construed to extend to any suit in law or equity,
commenced or prosecuted against one of the United States by citizens of another State, or by citizens or Subjects of

any Foreign State.” U.S. Const. amend. XI.

2l“No suit against the state or a state agency or political subdivision shall be instituted in any court other
than a Louisiana state court.” La. Rev. Stat. 13:5106(A).
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except perhaps the Great Flood of 1927. Thus, the Motion to Dismiss all causes of action brought
pursuant to 8 1983 shall be granted. Again, as to the remaining state law claims, these allegations

will be addressed infra.

MOTIONTO DISMISS ONBEHALF OF EDDIE JORDAN, INDIVIDUALLY

AND IN HIS ELECTED CAPACITY AS THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY FOR

THE PARISH OF ORLEANS, STATE OF LOUISIANA

Eddie Jordan, individually and in his elected capacity as the District Attorney for the Parish
of Orleans, State of Louisiana seeks dismissal for lack of jurisdiction, lack of standing and failure
to state a cause of action for which relief can be granted. For the same reasons as set forth with
respect to the City Defendants, the Motion to Dismiss shall be granted in so far as the Court lacks
subject matter jurisdiction as set forth above and as to the § 1983 claims, plaintiffs have failed to
state a claim as required under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). It appears that no memorandum in
opposition was filed in this matter, and that no supplemental briefing dealing with the Eleventh

Amended Complaint was filed. Nonetheless, the Court will dispose of the federal causes of action

in this manner and will discuss supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims infra.

UNITED STATES' MOTION TO DISMISS
The United States has moved pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) and 12(h)(3) to dismiss
plaintiffs' action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The Court has reviewed the pleadings and
exhibits and finds the motion to have merit.
In these proceedings, as previously noted, plaintiffs have amended their complaint eleven

times. Leave to file the twelfth amendment was denied. Plaintiffs have conclusorily alleged a
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panoply of federal statutes most of which have been dismissed by this Court in this opinion. In their
initial memorandum, plaintiffs' primary basis for jurisdiction was the Suits in Admiralty Act,
("SAA™), 46 U.S..C. 8 742 based on the anticipated filing of a Twelfth Supplemental and Amending
Complaint. Since the Twelfth Supplemental and Amending Complaint was not allowed to be filed,
this jurisdictional allegation is not before the Court. The SAA, if it were applicable here, does not
require the exhaustion of administrative remedies before filing suit; however, since it is not before
the Court, the Court will not address it. The Court will address this alleged basis for jurisdiction in
the Motion to Dismiss filed in Maureen O'Dwyer v. The United States of America, C.A. No. 06-1885
(Doc. 662 in these consolidated proceedings).?® Thus, the remaining claims are fundamentally tort
claims which require a determination whether plaintiffs have exhausted their administrative
remedies under the Federal Tort Claim, 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b), 2671 et seq. ("FTCA").

It must be noted that although the allegations of the primary complaint are not discrete as to
the United States, clearly plaintiffs are alleging that various offenses and quasi-offenses have been
committed by the United States Government through the acts or defalcations of the Corps and/or
FEMA. It should be further noted that this action is not a Bivens® claim, as no individual federal
agents or employees have been named. Lawrence v. St. Bernard Police Dept., 2000 WL 1182615
(E.D.La. Aug. 18, 2000).

Under the FTCA, 28 U.S.C. § 2675(a), an action may not be instituted against the United

States unless the claimant first presents the claim to the appropriate federal agency and the agency

%The Court would note nonetheless that it appears that the SAA is not applicable to these proceedings for
the well-stated reasons set forth by Judge Berrigan in In re Matter of the Complaint of Ingram Barge Co., 2006 WL
1539787 (E.D.La. May 25, 2006).

2Bijvens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388, 91 S. Ct. 1999
(1971).
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has denied the claim in writing. If the claim is not finally disposed of within six months, the

claimant may treat the claim as denied and file suit in federal court. The United States claims that

plaintiffs have not complied with these jurisdictional prerequisites.

Plaintiffs have made the following submissions to the United States:

1.

On October 12, 2005, plaintiffs submitted a handwritten letter to the United States
Army Corps of Engineers with copies of plaintiffs' complaints in C. A. Nos. 05-4181
and 05-4237.

On January 10, 2006, plaintiffs sent a Form SF-95 to the United States Army Corps
of Engineers, New Orleans District, Office of Counsel. Thiswas apparently received
by the agency on January 24, 2006. (Motion to Dismiss, Doc. 108, Aff. of Angela
Gene Drinkwitz, 13) (hereinafter "Aff. of Drinkwitz"). The Court has examined this
form, and it appears to be Mr. O'Dwyer's personal claim and an attempt to make a
claim on behalf of the other putative class members.

January 24, 2006, the Corps also received a supplemental claim submitted on a Form
SF-95, with a cover letter signed by Mr. O'Dwyer dated January 16, 2006. (Aff. of
Drinkwitz,  4).

January 31, 2006, the Corps received another SF-95 purporting to be an
administrative claim for Mrs. Maureen O'Dwyer. The claim was signed by Mr.
O'Dwyer as her legal representative. No power of attorney, contract or other
document was forwarded to signify Mr. O'Dwyer's legal representation of Mrs.

O'Dwyer (Aff. of Drinkwitz, 1 5).
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This suit was filed on September 19, 2005, the United States Army Corps of Engineers being made
defendant therein. On October 7, 2005, in the Second Supplemental and Amending Complaint,
FEMA was added. It does not appear that any administrative claim has been lodged against FEMA
to date.

Only two of the named plaintiffs' claims as outlined above could be regarded as possibly
sufficient to place the Corps on notice as detailed in the statute and the Code of Federal Regulations.
Specifically that would be the claims by Mr. O'Dwyer, individually, and that of his sister (without
any contract, power of attorney, etc.). Any purported attempt to make a claim by any other plaintiff
named in this action under the FTCA is woefully deficient. Thus, the Court pretermits any
discussion as to whether the administrative prerequisites of suit can be satisfied by the proper claims
of the named class representative, as oppose to each individual that might comprise the putative
class.®

In McNeil v. United States, 508 U.S. 106, 133 S. Ct. 1980 (1993), the Supreme Court held
that a suit filed before the six-month interval must be dismissed even after the six-month period had
run. The Court stated:

Every premature filing of an action under the FTCA imposes some burden on the

judicial system and on the Department of Justice which must assume the defense of

such actions. Although the burden may be slight in an individual case, the statute

governs the processing of a vast multitude of claims. The interest in orderly

administration of a body of litigation is best served by adherence to the straight -
forward statutory command.
Id. at 112, 1984.

This case has involved a plethora of pleadings and incidental motions, but it has not made

substantial progress. Therefore the Court must grant the United States' motion and dismiss plaintiffs'

%In re Agent Orange Prod. Liab. Litig., 8181 F.2d 194, 198 (2nd Cir. 1984).
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suit without prejudice as against the United States as premature both as regards the Corps and
FEMA. This procedural dictate is perhaps not the most practical and efficient method of
administering this behemoth before the Court, but it is what the law requires. Plaintiff(s) must re-
file this suit as against the United State, assuming that each has given appropriate notice to the
United States under the FTCA as set for in the statute and the regulations. Plaintiffs must bear in

mind, that at most, only two notices as noted above, might meet those prerequisites.®

SUPPLEMENTAL JURISDICTION

At this juncture, there remains before the Court in this matter all of the state law claims
alleged against all the moving parties herein. As noted above, the Court finds that there is no subject
matter jurisdiction for the majority of the claims alleged, and furthermore, as to the only extent
federal jurisdictional claims—that is the civil rights claims alleged, plaintiffs have failed to state a
claim against any of the moving defendants. Thus, as to the remaining state law claims, the court
has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), which allows a federal court to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the action having original
jurisdiction that they form the same case or controversy.” 28 U.S.C. 1367(a). Because the Court
has dismissed plaintiffs' federal based claims, the remaining state law claims have no independent
jurisdictional basis. Thus, as provided by 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c), a court, in its discretion, may
decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a claim when it has "dismissed all claims over

whichithas original jurisdiction. This Court hereby exercises its discretion and declines to exercise

31Clearly the provisions of the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1346(a)(2) do not apply because Mr. O'Dwyer seeks
$2 million and his sister seeks $2, 950,000.00.
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supplemental jurisdiction over any of the state law claims brought against the moving defendants.
Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss for Want of Standing or, Alternatively
Pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(1), FRCP 12(b)(6) and FRCP 11(b)(2) with Incorporated Memorandum in
Support Thereof filed by the City of New Orleans, the Honorable C. Ray Nagin, Mayor, and former
Superintendent of Police Edwin Compass, Il (Doc. 104) is GRANTED dismissing for lack of
jurisdiction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) all federal claims alleged except with respect to the
constitutional or civil rights claims, dismissing with prejudice for failure to state a claim pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) all claims brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, et seq., and dismissing
without prejudice all state law claims as this Court has declined to exercise its supplemental
jurisdiction thereto.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6)
filed by Kimberly Williamson Butler, in her individual capacity (Doc. 105) and the Amended
Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) filed by Kimberly Williamson Butler, in her
individual and official capacity (Doc. 110) is GRANTED dismissing for lack of jurisdiction
pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) all federal claims alleged except with respect to the
constitutional or civil rights claims, dismissing with prejudice for failure to state a claim pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) all claims brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, et seg., and dismissing
without prejudice all state law claims as this Court has declined to exercise its supplemental
jurisdiction thereto.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss Defendant Governor Kathleen

Blanco (Doc. 106) and the Motion to Dismiss Defendant State of Louisiana (Doc. 107) is
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GRANTED dismissing for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) all federal claims
alleged except with respect to the constitutional or civil rights claims, dismissing with prejudice for
failure to state a claim pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) all claims brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
8§ 1983, et seq., and dismissing without prejudice all state law claims as this Court has declined to
exercise its supplemental jurisdiction thereto.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss on Behalf of Eddie Jordan,
Individually and in his Elected Capacity as the District Attorney for the Parish of Orleans, State of
Louisiana (Doc.109) is GRANTED dismissing for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(1) all federal claims alleged except with respect to the constitutional or civil rights claims,
dismissing with prejudice for failure to state a claim pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) all claims
brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8 1983, et seq., and dismissing without prejudice all state law claims
as this Court has declined to exercise its supplemental jurisdiction thereto.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the United States’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 108) is
GRANTED dismissing these claims without prejudice as prematurely brought.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss filed by Aaron Broussard,
individually and in his official capacity as President for the Parish of Jefferson and Jefferson Parish
iIs MOOT as these defendants are no longer defendants in this suit.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED finding no just cause for delay, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
54(b), judgment shall be entered in favor of the City of New Orleans, Ray Nagin both individually
and in his official capacity, Eddie Compass, both individually and in his official capacity as Chief
of Police, Kimberly Williamson Butler, individually and in her official capacity as Clerk of Court

for the Orleans Parish Criminal District Court, Kathleen Blanco, both individually and in her
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official capacity as Governor of the State of Louisiana, Eddie Jordan, both individually and in his
official capacity as District Attorney for the City of New Orleans and the United States and against
plaintiffs dismissing their claims as set forth herein.
New Orleans, Louisiana, this _19th day of July, 2006.
/7.4
sTANWOOD R. DUVAL, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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